

DEMOGRAPHIC RESEARCH

VOLUME 52, ARTICLE 6, PAGES 141–178 PUBLISHED 22 JANUARY 2025

https://www.demographic-research.org/Volumes/Vol52/6 DOI: 10.4054/DemRes.2025.52.6

Research Article

Unmarried motherhood and infant health: The role of intimate partner violence in Colombia

Stefania Molina

© 2025 Stefania Molina.

This open-access work is published under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Germany (CC BY 3.0 DE), which permits use, reproduction, and distribution in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are given credit.

See https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/de/legalcode.

Contents

1	Introduction	142
2	Theoretical considerations	143
2.1	Diverse family forms and infant health	143
2.2	Intimate partner violence as a risk factor for infant nearth	145
2.3	Intimate partner violence and partnership status	140
3	The Colombian context	147
3.1	Historical context	147
3.2	Recent trends	148
3.2.1	Family diversity	148
3.2.2	IPV	150
3.3	The present study	150
		151
4	Data, variables, and methods	151
4.1	Data and analytical sample	151
4.2	Dependent variable	152
4.3	Independent variables	153
4.4	Analytical strategy	156
5	Results	156
5.1	Descriptive results	156
5.2	Regression results	158
6	Discussion	160
7	Acknowledgements	162
	-	
	References	163
	Appendix	172

Unmarried motherhood and infant health: The role of intimate partner violence in Colombia

Stefania Molina¹

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Research has shown that growing family diversity, including motherhood among unmarried women, is associated with child well-being. However, little is known about whether and how intimate partner violence (IPV) shapes the relationship between family diversity and child outcomes. Colombia is an ideal case to study these relationships due to the country's high prevalence of unmarried motherhood and large fraction of women who report experiencing IPV.

OBJECTIVE

This study expands previous research by studying the association between the mother's partnership status and low birth weight, and examines the role of physical IPV during pregnancy in this Colombian context.

METHOD

The study draws on Colombian Demographic and Health Survey data (2000, 2005, 2010, 2015), and selects mothers with children aged 0–1 who were married, cohabiting, or separated at the time of the interview. Descriptive analysis shows trends across time in the partnership status of women with newborn children, and logistic regression models estimate whether the mother's partnership status was associated with low birth weight, and how experiencing IPV during pregnancy affected this relationship.

RESULTS

The results show that separated and cohabiting mothers reported higher levels of IPV during pregnancy than married mothers. The levels of IPV reported by cohabiting women decreased across the observation period to become more like those of married women. However, the difference in low birth weight between the infants of married and unmarried mothers can mostly be attributed to differences in maternal and child characteristics, as well as to disparities in healthcare utilization during pregnancy.

¹ Hertie School and Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Germany. Email: stefania.molina@hu-berlin.de.

CONTRIBUTION

The paper calls attention to the correlation between IPV and family forms in the Latin American context, and relates it to child outcomes.

1. Introduction

The significant changes in family formation that affected Western societies in the second half of the 20th century, and that are commonly seen as reflecting the second demographic transition (SDT), have been well documented (e.g., Lesthaeghe 2010). However, evidence indicating that many behavioral shifts, such as the spread of cohabitation, have been even more prevalent in other regions of the world has received less attention. Specifically, in Latin America, cohabitation as a form of union has increased sharply among all social groups. This rise in the proportion of unmarried mothers has been described as the 'cohabitation boom' in the scholarly literature (Covre-Sussai et al. 2015; Esteve, García-Román, and Lesthaeghe 2012).

Motherhood among unmarried women is commonly linked to social disadvantage. and is thus assumed to have significant repercussions for family dynamics and children's well-being (Brown 2010; Härkönen, Bernardi, and Boertien 2017). Similarly, it has been shown that a strong correlation exists between parental partnership status and child outcomes (Amato 2014; DeRose et al. 2017), particularly infant health (Bird et al. 2000; Castro-Martín 2010; Shah, Zao, and Ali 2011; Torche and Abufhele 2021). An important factor in the association between partnership status and infant health is intimate partner violence (IPV), which is typically defined as physical, sexual, or psychological abuse by an intimate partner, encompassing physical aggression, sexual coercion, and controlling behaviors (Garcia-Moreno et al. 2006). The literature has consistently found that intimate partner violence (IPV) is harmful to infant health (Shah and Shah 2010). Moreover, research conducted in Colombia has shown that married women are at lower risk of IPV than cohabiting and separated women (Friedemann-Sanchez and Lovatón 2012). The country has one of the highest percentages of women who report experiencing physical IPV during their lifetime, and specifically during pregnancy (Devries et al. 2010). Women in certain family forms seem to be subjected to IPV more frequently than others, which may in turn affect their children's well-being. However, there is little empirical research examining the role of IPV in the relationship between the mother's partnership status and child health.

Although nonmarital childbearing is an increasingly common phenomenon worldwide, most existing studies on the health disadvantage of children born to unmarried parents have been conducted with US or European data (Brown 2010; Bzostek and Beck 2011). Colombia's consistently high shares of nonmarital fertility and cohabitation make the country an exceptional case study. Childbearing outside of wedlock is a traditional pattern in the region and has been attributed to the high prevalence of consensual unions since the colonial period. This pattern reflects the difficulties the Catholic Church has faced in imposing its views on marriage on the population, and the lack of integration of the lower social classes and distinct ethnic groups during the process of colonization (Castro-Martín 2002). However, the recent increase in nonmarital childbearing and the cohabitation boom among all socioeconomic groups have raised questions about how these trends have influenced children's wellbeing. Do the children of unmarried mothers fare worse in terms of health than the children of married mothers? What is the role of IPV in this relationship?

The data used in this study come from the 2000, 2005, 2010, and 2015 Colombian Demographic and Health Surveys (CDHS). The study focuses on mothers whose children were 12 months old or younger at the time of the interview. The great benefit of using the CDHS data is that they also include information about IPV during pregnancy. Furthermore, the data cover a 15-year period during which significant social changes took place in the country, enabling the expansion of research on family formation in Colombia. Whereas previous studies on partnership status and infant health only distinguished between married and unmarried mothers (Castro-Martín 2010; Torche and Abufhele 2021), the CDHS data allow us to adopt a more fine-grained definition of the unmarried group, distinguishing between mothers who were married, cohabiting, and separated. The three main objectives of this paper are to (1) describe trends in IPV and the partnership status of women with newborn children; (2) examine how the risk of low birth weight differs depending on the mother's partnership status; and (3) determine what role IPV during pregnancy plays in the association between the mother's partnership status and low birth weight.

2. Theoretical considerations

2.1 Diverse family forms and infant health

As a result of changes in partnership formation patterns and an increase in nonmarital childbearing, children's living arrangements have become much more diverse in recent decades. A robust literature from Western countries has explored the association between family forms and children's well-being (Brown 2010; Härkönen, Bernardi, and Boertien 2017). Studies focusing on Europe usually frame nonmarital fertility around the SDT, which attributes recent fertility changes to values related to individual autonomy and gender equality (Castro-Martín et al. 2011). Nevertheless, the SDT has been criticized,

particularly for its rigidity, lack of consideration of within-country variation, and ethnocentric bias (Zaidi and Morgan 2017). The theory offers only one of several possible explanations for changes in family formation patterns (Coleman 2004). Furthermore, some of the model's predictions are not consistent with the patterns observed in several countries. For example, while the SDT tends to portray changes in family forms as positive, some scholars have noted that women who have children outside of marriage are often from disadvantaged backgrounds, and have highlighted the importance of considering these mothers' ongoing challenges (Hogendoorn and Härkönen 2023; Perelli-Harris et al. 2010). Studies focusing on the United States have observed that nonmarital childbearing is more common in families from disadvantaged social strata with a high degree of instability. In a context where parental partnership status is linked to social inequalities, nonmarital fertility may play a role in the intergenerational transmission of poverty (McLanahan 2004).

In general, these studies have found that children with divorced or separated parents have lower educational attainment, socioeconomic status, and cognitive skills, as well as poorer health outcomes (Amato 2014; Amato and Patterson 2017; Bzostek and Beck 2011; Manning and Lamb 2003; Panico et al. 2019; Reynolds et al. 2018; Schmeer 2011). Naturally, the results vary depending on the child's age, the family context, the conceptualization of partnership status, and the prevailing social norms (Brown, Manning, and Stykes 2015; Foster and Kalil 2007; Kalmijn 2015; Pierce and Heaton 2020; Smith-Greenaway and Clark 2017). Most of the theories and findings of this literature are based on the US and European contexts, whereas little is known about the experiences of families in middle-income countries like Colombia (DeRose et al. 2017; Reynolds et al. 2018).

Of particular interest for this study is the relationship between the mother's partnership status and infant health, measured by low birth weight (LBW). Children's health in early life has significant repercussions for their long-term health, schooling, employment, and earnings (Case and Paxson 2010). LBW is associated with neonatal mortality and infant morbidity, and is a powerful predictor of children's long-term health, psychological development, and cognitive skills (Boardman et al. 2002; Torche and Conley 2016). Therefore, analyzing health inequalities at an early life stage can shed light on health inequalities later in life.

There are several reasons why the mother's partnership status might influence infant health. One contributing factor is the selection effects of unmarried motherhood: some mothers may have personal characteristics and behaviors that predispose them to separate or not to marry, and these factors might also affect their well-being and that of their children (Amato 2014). Additionally, unmarried mothers tend to be younger, have lower levels of education, and have more precarious economic circumstances than married mothers (Burstrom et al. 2010; Esteve, García-Román, and Lesthaeghe 2012). It has also

been shown that antenatal care utilization varies systematically by the woman's partnership status (Rurangirwa et al. 2017). A similar pattern has been observed for smoking during pregnancy (Kiernan and Pickett 2006), suggesting that health behavior may be an important factor linking family structure to child health. There is also evidence that a lack of social and emotional support from her partner can negatively affects a mother's physical and mental health, and consequently the health of her children (Hohmann-Marriott 2009).

Studies on infant health have shown that compared to the children of married mothers, the children of unmarried mothers have worse general physical health and are at increased risk of having LBW, being a preterm birth (PTB), and being small for their gestational age (SGA) (Shah, Zao, and Ali 2011). Using register data, Castro-Martín (2010) finds that unmarried mothers in Spain are more likely than married mothers to have a low-birth-weight infant, but also that the difference has been narrowing due to changes in the sociodemographic profile and increased social acceptance of unmarried motherhood. Similarly, Torche and Abufhele (2021) use the Chilean birth registry to show that the positive impact of marriage on infant health declined as nonmarital childbearing became more accepted in society. Research on how infant health differs depending on whether the mother is cohabiting or married is still rare. One of the few such studies, conducted in the US context, shows that infants born to married mothers and cohabiting mothers (Song 2021).

2.2 Intimate partner violence as a risk factor for infant health

IPV is the most common form of violence against women, and is a public health problem that negatively affects both mothers and children (Campbell 2002; Garcia-Moreno et al. 2006). Physical IPV during pregnancy is particularly relevant when analyzing infant health. In cases of multiple partnerships, IPV during pregnancy is a more precise measurement for identifying the partner who perpetrated the violence, as it is usually the child's father (WHO 2005). Infants born to mothers who report experiencing IPV during pregnancy are found to have short- and long-term adverse health outcomes through a diverse set of mechanisms (Yount, DiGirolamo, and Ramakrishnan 2011).

The mechanisms linking IPV during pregnancy to infant health include the direct effects on fetal growth and development and indirect effects related to maternal mental and physical health, access to antenatal and delivery care, and risky maternal behavior. Direct effects through abdominal trauma might cause placental damage, premature rupture of membranes, or uterine contractions leading to PTB and LBW (Newberger et al. 1992). Indeed, research focusing on fetal growth and development has shown that

experiencing IPV during pregnancy increases the risk of adverse birth outcomes such as PTB and LBW (Da Thi Tran, Murray, and Van Vo 2022; Janssen et al. 2003; Murphy, Schei, and Myhr 2001; Sigalla et al. 2017; Valladares 2002). In a meta-analysis, Shah and Shah (2010) estimate that among women exposed to IPV, the odds of having a LBW infant increase by 53%.

Infant health is also indirectly affected by IPV. Female victims of IPV suffer from a range of harmful health consequences, such as injuries, chronic pain, malnutrition, depression, and stress (Campbell 2002). Previous research has shown the importance of analyzing prenatal maternal stress and its adverse effects on infant health (Almond and Currie 2011). Maternal stress has been linked to the production of hormones that may lead to intrauterine growth restriction or preterm birth (Valladares 2002). For example, using data from Chile, Torche (2011) finds that maternal exposure to stress during pregnancy increases the probability of having an infant with low birth weight. The stress levels of mothers who experience IPV during pregnancy might increase, which could in turn affect the health of the infant. Moreover, women who are exposed to IPV are at higher risk of prenatal smoking and alcohol abuse (Bailey and Daugherty 2007; Dutton et al. 2006). In addition, women who experience IPV might be less willing or able to seek antenatal care to prevent, identify, or treat health complications, even though they tend to need such care the most (Hindin, Kishor, and Ansara 2008; Nunes et al. 2010). Generally, women with poor health outcomes during pregnancy are more likely to give birth to an unhealthy child (Valladares 2002).

2.3 Intimate partner violence and partnership status

Studies have consistently shown that the risk of IPV varies according to partnership status, with the risk being higher in nonmarital relationships (Brown and Bulanda 2008; Brownridge 2008; Kenney and McLanahan 2006; Magdol et al. 1998; Manning, Longmore, and Giordano 2018; Rezey 2017; Romans et al. 2007; Siddique 2016). There is evidence that separated women are at greater risk of experiencing IPV than nonseparated women (Siddique 2016; Romans et al. 2007). For example, using a nationally representative household survey from the United States, Rezey (2017) shows that separated women are more likely to be victims of IPV than married women, even after accounting for sociodemographic characteristics. A potential explanation for this increased risk is that partner violence may lead to separation (DeMaris 2001). However, separating from a violent partner does not necessarily end the abuse as it may continue post-separation (Fleury, Sullivan, and Bybee 2000).

Scholars have also documented that cohabiting relationships have higher levels of IPV than married relationships (Brown and Bulanda 2008; Brownridge 2008; Kenney

and McLanahan 2006; Magdol et al. 1998; Manning, Longmore, and Giordano 2018). It has been argued that because cohabitation is an incomplete institution with fewer institutionalized rights and lower commitment levels than marriage (Nock 1995), cohabiting women tend to be in a more vulnerable position than married women. In a male-dominated society, married men may perceive their relationship as stable, decreasing their need to control their partner using force (Nock 1995). By contrast, men in a cohabiting union might feel threatened by the instability of their relationship, and thus use physical or emotional violence to control their partner. Nonetheless, as cohabitation gains social acceptance and becomes more common it is less frequently linked to adverse relationship outcomes (Liefbroer and Dourleijn 2006). Indeed, Brownridge (2008) reports that in Canada, the disparity in violence rates between married and cohabiting couples has diminished as cohabitation has become more prevalent and less selective.

3. The Colombian context

3.1 Historical context

Unlike in other societies, in Colombia nonmarital fertility is not a new trend, but is instead a traditional pattern reflecting the region's history, which has been linked to the high prevalence of consensual unions (Gutiérrez de Pineda 1968; Quilodrán 2003). Historical factors related to the colonial period in the country left legacies that still influence family formation. Precolonial societies and imported enslaved Africans had diverse marital customs, including polygamy, bride price, and occasionally sibling marriage. Against this background, colonizers tried to implement new rules to regulate marriage.

The Catholic Church had a pervasive impact through its efforts to impose its own definition of marriage based on monogamy and patriarchal values (De Vos 2000; Socolow 2000). The church considered any other type of informal union invalid, even if it was seen as a substitute for marriage among Indigenous and African families. Children born into nonmarital unions did not have the same rights as children born into formal marriages. In addition, weddings were often expensive, and intermarriage across social and ethnic groups was usually prohibited. Even so, some European men, including married men, had informal relations or a second family with Indigenous and African women (De Vos 2000; Socolow 2000). These relations were characterized by informality and unequal power dynamics between men (the conquerors) and women (the conquered).

In colonial times, marriage was associated with higher social status (Lavrin 1989). The elite, composed of Spanish-born colonists and wealthy landowners, primarily practiced formal marriage. Women with this social status were expected to marry,

fulfilling the role of wife and looking after the children. By contrast, men had more freedom, as they usually married while also engaging in casual relationships with women of lower social status. Within the lower social strata, marriage was not as common, and women experienced less societal pressure to marry. For most non-elites, civil or religious marriage was not seen as beneficial since they had no inheritance to protect and fewer economic resources to pay for a ceremony, and they often lived in rural areas where marriages were geographically challenging to arrange. In addition, enslaved women needed permission from their masters to get married and were usually forced to become concubines of white men. Women from lower social strata suffered because their partners and the fathers of their children had few legal obligations toward them. Thus, men frequently abandoned their children and used physical abuse to control women in intimate relationships (Socolow 2000). This dynamic led to extremely low marriage rates: Cohabitation was common among certain groups, and a high share of births occurred outside of marriage (Milanich 2002).

3.2 Recent trends

3.2.1 Family diversity

Colombia has one of the highest incidences of nonmarital fertility in the world (Bongaarts and Casterline 2022; Laplante et al. 2016), mostly related to the large number of consensual unions. Using census data from 2005 and information on the partnership status of mothers with children younger than 1 year, Castro-Martín et al. (2011) estimate that roughly 20% of births in Colombia take place within marriage, more than 50% within a consensual union, and around 20% outside a partnership – meaning that about 70% of all births in Colombia take place out of wedlock. Social systems created in the past are still present in Colombia society. Another potential factor contributing to the high share of children born outside of marriage is the influence of macro-level violence on the sex ratio of the population. In Colombia a female-biased sex ratio creates an unbalanced marriage market where men are in the more advantageous position, potentially making them more reluctant to enter a marital union (Jones and Ferguson 2006).

To ensure that children born to both married and unmarried mothers are treated equally, there is a widespread tendency to equalize the rights of children regardless of the type of union they are born into. The Colombian constitution recognized consensual unions in 1991, thereby ensuring that the children born within these unions receive the same support and inheritance rights as those born within marriage (Deere and León 2021). Maintenance and inheritance rights for couples in consensual unions were established much later, in the 2000s (ibid.). To take advantage of these rights, couples

must demonstrate relationship stability, such as cohabiting for at least two years or having a child together. While couples can choose to register their relationship, this depends on mutual agreement, resulting in low registration rates (ibid.). Thus, the success of legislative changes aimed at protecting women in various family forms hinges on women's awareness of their specific rights and their willingness to undertake a potentially costly and time-consuming process. It therefore appears that married couples continue to have more legal rights than couples in consensual unions.

An increase in cohabitation as a union form has been documented among both lesseducated and – surprisingly – more-educated women in Colombia (Esteve, García-Román, and Lesthaeghe 2012). As this type of union has become more common among different groups, the social meaning of cohabitation in Colombia has been shown to vary. Covre-Sussai et al. (2015) argue that consensual unions can be divided into 'traditional' and 'modern' types. Traditional cohabitation is an alternative to marriage practiced by women who are less educated, give birth at younger ages, and bear more children. This type of consensual union is characterized by low levels of female independence and high instability, and thus imposes constraints on women with less bargaining power than men (Parrado and Tienda 1997). Modern cohabitation tends to be practiced by women who are older, highly educated, and have fewer children. Some scholars have argued that this form of cohabitation resembles that observed among higher educated groups in Western countries,² which mostly serves as a trial period before marriage (Covre-Sussai et al. 2015; Esteve, García-Román, and Lesthaeghe 2012).

Thus, in the Colombian case, it is difficult to determine whether the increase in nonmarital fertility is the result of the expansion of individual autonomy, new cultural patterns, and modernization, as stipulated by the SDT (Lesthaeghe 2010); or whether it reflects the exclusion of women from resources, gender inequality, and female subordination (Castro-Martín et al. 2011). Especially in a society with pervasive social inequalities, where the rigid stratification systems contribute to inequalities in union formation based on class, socioeconomic status, and ethnicity, childbearing outside of wedlock has a different meaning depending on the social group in which it occurs. On the one hand, nonmarital fertility may reflect gender equality and women's autonomy. On the other hand, having a child outside marriage might be associated with early pregnancy, father abandonment, or financial hardship.

² For research on the meaning of cohabitation in Western countries, see Hiekel, Liefbroer, and Poortman (2014) and Manning and Cohen (2012).

3.2.2 IPV

In Colombian society there are still unequal power dynamics between men and women, which are linked to physical abuse in intimate relationships. Historical class and ethnic differences reinforce men's control over women's sexuality and autonomy (Arriagada 2006), which may be expressed through emotional, physical, and sexual violence. In Latin America, violence is used to affirm masculine authority because social norms have not progressed as fast as women's education, labor force participation, and economic conditions (Castro, Casique, and Brindis 2008; Esteve, Castro-Martín, and Castro Torres 2022). In particular, men tend to use violence as a mechanism of control when they believe their role as breadwinner is being threatened (Menjívar 2011). Thus, progress toward gender equality has been slow in Colombia, despite the significant progress in women's education and labor market participation. It is also possible that women in Colombia have low bargaining power within the household because of the excess of women in the marriage market (Jones and Ferguson 2006), which could in turn increase their likelihood of experiencing violence.

Colombia has one of the highest percentages of women who report physical IPV worldwide. Using DHS survey data from 2005, Devries et al. (2010) estimate that in Colombia 40% of women have reported experiencing physical IPV, and 8% of everpregnant women have reported experiencing physical IPV during pregnancy. Also using DHS survey data, Kishor and Kiersten (2004) show that women are more likely to report experiencing physical violence than emotional or sexual violence. The determinants of IPV include union status, age, educational level, income, number of children, and place of residence (Fournier et al. 1999; McQuestion 2003). Married older women with higher educational levels and socioeconomic status are less likely to experiencing IPV. Overall, marriage seems to be a protective factor against violence perpetrated by a male partner, although the causal direction of this relationship is difficult to establish (Friedemann-Sanchez and Lovatón 2012).

3.3 The present study

A large body of research has investigated the relationship between the mother's partnership status and infant health (Shah, Zao, and Ali 2011). There is consistent empirical evidence showing that the differences between children born to unmarried and married mothers can be partially attributed to the differences in their sociodemographic characteristics (Brown 2010). Additionally, other studies have documented the adverse effects of intimate partner violence (IPV) on infant health, including increased risks of

low birth weight and other negative birth outcomes (Da Thi Tran, Murray, and Van Vo 2022). Further research has also suggested that the risk of IPV varies depending on partnership status, with unmarried mothers facing higher levels of IPV than married mothers (Manning, Longmore, and Giordano 2018; Rezey 2017). Despite this evidence, our understanding of how IPV influences the association between partnership status and infant health remains limited.

While substantial research has independently examined the associations between partnership status and infant health, IPV and infant health, and IPV in relation to partnership status, no prior studies have integrated these factors in order to explore how they may collectively influence infant health. In light of this research gap, the present study seeks to examine whether the negative effect of partnership status on low birth weight can be partially explained by the presence of IPV during pregnancy. Specifically, I hypothesize that the negative association between partnership status and low birth weight will be attenuated after controlling for IPV, suggesting a controlled direct effect of partnership status on low birth weight. While previous research has demonstrated that sociodemographic characteristics may account for much of this association, this study aims to assess whether IPV also plays a role in this relationship.

4. Data, variables, and methods

4.1 Data and analytical sample

This paper uses data from the Colombian Demographic and Health Survey (CDHS), a nationally representative and cross-sectional survey fielded in participating countries at roughly 5-year intervals (DHS Program 2023). The selected waves are from 2000, 2005, 2010, and 2015. The questionnaire used for this study includes information on reproductive-age women (13–49), their birth histories, and the sociodemographic characteristics of mothers and children. The CDHS sample selection has changed over time, with girls aged 13–14 being included from 2005 onward. The main advantages of using the CDHS data are that the sample sizes are large, the data can be used to make comparisons across time since the same program was applied over multiple years, and the surveys include questions on IPV. The analysis does not include previous years because information on IPV was only collected for the period covered by the CDHS data.

Since the information on the mother's partnership status and other sociodemographic characteristics was collected at the time of the survey and the birth of a child might have occurred at a different time, all analyses are restricted to mothers with children aged 0-1 year (N = 18,110); thus, the mothers' characteristics correspond to the period of time immediately after childbearing. The CDHS 2015 provides retrospective

data on relationship histories, allowing for a more detailed assessment of partnership status. However, the sample size of this survey wave is too small to enable us to conduct the analysis with these data. The sample is further restricted to singleton births to avoid the distinct effects of multiple births on low birth weight (N = 17,974). In addition, only mothers with information on the outcome variable are selected (N = 14,258).³ Finally, mothers categorized by the CDHS as "never in a union" are excluded as it is not possible to distinguish between those who were never partnered (not at risk of IPV) and those who were never in a cohabiting or marital union (at risk of IPV if they had a partner living in another household). Widowed mothers are also excluded due to the small sample size (0.65%). The total number of women who enter the analysis is 12,191, of whom 7.87% were subjected to IPV during pregnancy.

4.2 Dependent variable

The outcome variable used to capture infant health is *low birth weight*, defined as weight at birth below 2,500 grams (WHO 2014), measured as a binary outcome (1 = low birth weight; 0 = regular birth weight). The reporting of weight at birth in the CDHS is based on a written record or the mother's recall, which might influence the reliability of the measure (Boeke et al. 2012). Figure 1 shows the distribution of infant birth weights. As only 85 (0.70%) infants in the sample had a very low birth weight (below 1,500 grams), the analysis only distinguishes between low and regular birth weight. The average birth weight is 3,239 grams (SE = 5.21), and 819 newborns (6.72%) had a low birth weight. As low birth weight can result from intrauterine growth restriction and/or preterm birth, it would be informative to distinguish between these causes (WHO 2014). However, there is a lack of data on gestational length for the period analyzed. Thus, the outcome variable could be related to either of these two factors.

 $^{^{3}}$ Mothers who are separated (23.71%) and cohabiting (23.35%) have higher shares of missing values on the outcome variable than those who are married (13.33%).



Figure 1: Distribution of infant birth weights

Source: CDHS 2000, 2005, 2010, 2015; own estimates. Note: The red solid line indicates LBW (<2,500 g) and the dashed line shows very low birth weight (<1,500 g).

4.3 Independent variables

The main independent variable is operationalized based on the mothers' answers regarding partnership status. I distinguish the following statuses:

- (1) married: living with a partner and married;
- (2) cohabiting: living with a partner and not married; and
- (3) separated: not married but lived with a partner in the past.

The covariates include the mothers' and the children's characteristics associated with low birth weight. The children's characteristics are *sex* (male or female) and *birth order* (first, second, third, or higher). Birth order groups are based on the children's position in the birth history. The mothers' characteristics are *age at birth* (13–19, 20–34, or 35–49 years), highest *educational level* (primary or lower, secondary, or higher), and

place of residence (urban or rural). The urban category includes the capital cities and the remaining municipal capitals. In addition, the *number of antenatal care visits* (0–3 visits, 4–7 visits, or 8 or more visits) is used to indicate access to and use of healthcare during pregnancy. At least eight antenatal care visits are recommended for a positive pregnancy experience (WHO 2016). Mother's ethnicity and the wealth index built as a composite measure of a household's cumulative living standard would also be relevant for this analysis; however, the CDHS data does not include information on these variables for all survey rounds.

To account for IPV, a binary indicator of whether or not a mother reported experiencing physical intimate partner violence during pregnancy is included. This is part of the domestic violence module and follows the World Health Organization's ethical and safety guidelines, which stipulate that the staff implementing this module should receive special training, and should randomly select only one woman per household to answer these specific questions (WHO 2001). Once the women were selected they had to give additional informed consent, and their privacy had to be guaranteed by ensuring no one else in the household was present during the interview. Even with such rigorous procedures, survey questions on IPV are prone to social desirability bias and underreporting (Fernández-González, O'Leary, and Muñoz-Rivas 2013). The women were questioned about violence perpetrated by their current husband/partner if they were married or cohabiting, or by their most recent husband/partner if they were separated. Other variables that are part of the module indicate whether the women reported experiencing IPV in the 12 months preceding the survey (see Table A-1); however, I selected physical violence during pregnancy as the indicator, to precisely capture violence perpetrated close to the time the child was born.

Table 1 provides the summary statistics of the analytical sample by the mother's partnership status (see Tables A-2 and A-3 for summary statistics by whether the mother reported experiencing IPV during pregnancy and by year). The percentage of mothers with low-birth-weight newborns was higher among those who were cohabiting or separated (8.04% and 7.99%, respectively) than among those who were married (6.22%). The share of mothers who reported experiencing IPV during pregnancy was highest among those who were separated (15.02%), lower among those who were cohabiting (7.77%), and considerably lower among those who were married (3.65%). The share of mothers who completed the recommended number of antenatal care visits (8+ visits) was higher among those who were married (33.07%), suggesting that unmarried mothers utilized healthcare services during pregnancy less frequently than their married counterparts. The sex of the child was, on average, evenly distributed across all family structures. The share of first-order births was higher among married mothers (31.89%). The share of teenage mothers (<20

years old) was higher among the unmarried group (18.77% for cohabiting and 22.23% for separated mothers) than among the married group. Most of the mothers, irrespective of their family structure, were living in an urban area. In terms of educational level, the percentage of mothers who had completed higher education was higher in the married group (38.78%) than in the unmarried group, with cohabiting mothers (18.03%) more likely than separated mothers (15.23%) to have completed higher education.

	Married	Cohabiting	Separated
Low birth weight	6.22	8.04	7.99
IPV during pregnancy	[[7.27–8.93] 7.77 [7.00–8.62]	[0.42–3.31] 15.02 [12.31–18.20]
Sex of child			
Male	52.21 [49.26–55.15]	52.20 [50.64–53.76]	49.43 [46.08–52.78]
Female	47.79 [44.85–50.74]	47.80 [46.24–49.36]	50.57 [47.22–53.92]
Birth order			
First	31.89 [29.00–34.92] 29.64	38.80 [37.31–40.31]	40.30 [37.01–43.67]
Second	38.64 [35.95–41.40]	32.72 [31.19–34.29]	[28.23–34.50]
Third or higher	29.47 [26.96–32.11]	28.48 [27.14–29.86]	28.42 [25.61–31.41]
Age at birth	[20:00 02:11]	[2.111 20:00]	[20:01 01:11]
13–19	4.20	18.77	22.23
20–34	[3.37–3.22] 48.97 [46.08–51.87]	[17.03–19.97] 57.00 [55.43–58.55]	53.75 [50.41–57.05]
35–49	46.83 [43.87–49.81]	24.23 [22.83–25.69]	24.03 [21.36–26.91]
Place of residence			,
Urban	76.64 [74.44–78.70]	74.03 [72.75–75.27]	80.19 [77.55–82.60]
Rural	23.36 [21.30–25.56]	25.97 [24.73–27.25]	19.81 [17.40–22.45]
Educational level			
Primary or lower	19.17 [17 31–21 17]	24.05 [22 81–25 34]	22.38 [19.82–25.16]
Secondary	42.05 [39.33–44.82]	57.92 [56.34–59.48]	[10:02 20:10] 62:39 [59:01–65:66]
Higher	38.78 [35.72–41.93]	18.03 [16.66–19.47]	15.23 [12.60–18.31]
Number of antenatal care visits	[[]	,
0–3 visits	5.26 [4.35–6.35]	11.55 [10.61–12.55]	15.17 [12.99–17.65]
4–7 visits	46.02 [43.18–48.88]	55.05 [53.49–56.60]	51.76 [48.39–55.11]
8+ visits	48.72 [45.79–51.65]	33.40 [31.93–34.90]	33.07 [29.85–36.45]
Sample size	2,692	7,864	1,635

Table 1:Sample statistics by mother's partnership status and 95% confidence
intervals; mothers with children aged 0–1

Source: CDHS 2000, 2005, 2010, 2015; own weighted estimates.

Molina: Unmarried motherhood and infant health: The role of intimate partner violence in Colombia

4.4 Analytical strategy

The analytical strategy is structured as follows. First, a descriptive analysis shows the trends in the partnership status of women with newborn children by calendar year and the trends in the risk of reporting IPV during pregnancy among the same group of women by partnership status and year. Second, logistic regression models are performed to investigate the relationship between the mother's partnership status and low birth weight. The first model includes only partnership status as a predictor. The second model adds controls for IPV during pregnancy, and the third model further incorporates maternal and child characteristics as additional controls. A stepwise strategy is used to untangle the controlled direct effect of mother's partnership status and low birth weight. All models control for calendar year. Ideally, separate analyses would be conducted for different time periods to examine whether the patterns had shifted with the change in the meaning of cohabitation. However, the small sample sizes do not allow for such an investigation. The logistic regression results are presented as odds ratios (OR).

5. Results

5.1 Descriptive results

Figure 2 shows the trends in the partnership status of mothers with children aged 0–1 by year (see Figure A-1 for the trends among all women). Since the indicator of partnership status is measured as a single point in time, it offers a rough sense of the partnership status prevalence among mothers with newborns. The most striking results are the steep decline over the study period in the percentage of mothers who were married and the increase in the percentage of mothers who were cohabiting, confirming that a cohabitation boom has occurred in Colombia. In 2015, 65.84% of mothers were cohabiting, while only 22.27% were married. The percentage of mothers who were separated increased slightly and then appeared to be constant over the remainder of the study period, reaching 11.89% in the last calendar year. Figure 2 further illustrates the importance of analyzing cohabitation as a distinct family form. Cohabiting mothers have been the predominant group since 1995, with the highest share of births occurring outside of marriage.





Figure 3 illustrates the trends in the reported levels of IPV during pregnancy among mothers with children aged 0–1 by partnership status and year. On average, separated mothers reported the highest levels of IPV during pregnancy, followed by cohabiting mothers. Over the study period the share of women affected by IPV during pregnancy generally declined, except among those who experienced separation, for whom IPV levels increased. In 2000, separated and cohabiting mothers had similar shares of IPV during pregnancy, at 14.59% and 12.47%, respectively. However, cohabiting unions became less violent over the study period. In 2015, about 17.51% of separated mothers but only 5.75% of cohabiting mothers reported experiencing IPV during pregnancy. A possible explanation for the steep decrease in IPV among cohabiting mothers is that the composition of this group was changing as cohabitation became common among all social groups, including among highly educated women.⁴ However, an additional analysis that uses IPV as outcome variable and that controls for sociodemographic

Source: CDHS 1990, 1995, 2000, 2005, 2010. 2015; own weighted estimates. Note: N = 14,600. Sample not restricted to information on IPV. Vertical lines represent 95% confidence intervals.

⁴ See Table A-4 logit models of IPV during pregnancy as the outcome variable, which shows that education explains some but not all of the differences between groups.

characteristics still shows a decline in IPV among cohabiting mothers over time (see Figure A-2 in the Appendix). Another potential explanation is related to selection into separation. Experiencing IPV during pregnancy could be a reason for separation. Increased social acceptance of separation following IPV might explain the increase in IPV among the separated mothers and the decline among the other groups.

Figure 3: Share of mothers with children aged 0–1 who reported experiencing IPV during pregnancy, by partnership status and calendar year



Source: CDHS 2000, 2005, 2010. 2015; own weighted estimates. Vertical lines represent 95% confidence intervals.

5.2 Regression results

Table 2 provides the results of logistic regression models where the outcome variable is low birth weight as a binary outcome. Model 1 shows that married mothers were less likely than their counterparts to give birth to a LBW infant. Cohabiting mothers had 22% higher odds of having a LBW infant than married mothers and separated mothers 28% higher odds. Model 2, which includes IPV, shows that women who were subjected to IPV had 14% higher odds of having a low-birth-weight infant, although the parameter was not statistically significant at conventional levels. After controlling for IPV, differences by family form narrow slightly. In Model 3, the mothers' and the children's

characteristics and the number of antenatal care visits are included. After including these variables, the differences by partnership status are strongly attenuated.

	Model 1		Model 2		Model 3	
	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI
Partnership status						
Married	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.	
Cohabiting	1.22	1.01-1.47	1.21	1.00-1.46	1.12	0.92-1.36
Separated	1.28	1.00-1.64	1.26	0.98-1.62	1.12	0.87-1.45
Year						
2000	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.	
2005	1.22	0.92-1.63	1.22	0.92-1.64	1.22	0.92-1.63
2010	1.29	0.97-1.70	1.30	0.98-1.72	1.33	0.99–1.76
2015	1.36	1.02-1.81	1.37	1.02-1.83	1.43	1.06-1.92
IPV during pregnancy			1.14	0.89-1.47	1.20	0.93-1.55
Sex of the child						
Male					Ref.	
Female					1.17	1.01–1.35
Birth order						
First					Ref.	
Second					0.71	0.59-0.86
Third or higher					0.62	0.50-0.78
Age at birth						
13–19					Ref.	
20–34					0.94	0.76-1.15
35–49					1.21	0.94-1.57
Place of residence						
Rural					Ref.	
Urban					1.07	0.91-1.33
Educational level						
Primary					Ref.	
Secondary					1.09	0.90-1.33
Higher					1.16	0.90-1.49
Number of antenatal care visits						
0-3 visits					Ref.	
4–7 visits					0.65	0.53-0.80
8+ visits					0.40	0.31-0.50
Ν	12,191		12,191		12,191	
Pseudo R ²	0.001		0.002		0.017	

Table 2:Odds ratio and 95% confidence intervals from logistic regression
models of partnership status and infant birth weight

6. Discussion

This study examines the relationship between a mother's partnership status and low birth weight, emphasizing the role of intimate partner violence (IPV) during pregnancy. IPV is widely recognized as both a human rights violation and a critical public health concern with serious consequences for women and their children (Campbell 2002; Garcia-Moreno et al. 2006). Understanding the role of IPV in this relationship is essential for addressing maternal and child health disparities. Drawing on data from the CDHS, this research offers a unique opportunity to analyze trends in maternal partnership status over time and to explore the role of IPV during pregnancy within the Colombian context.

Recent studies have shown that radical changes in living arrangements have occurred in Latin America (Covre-Sussai et al. 2015). This paper provides evidence of growing family diversity in Colombia, including a sharp rise in cohabitation among mothers. The results of descriptive analysis reveal that higher shares of separated and cohabiting mothers than of married mothers reported experiencing intimate partner violence (IPV) during pregnancy. These findings align with previous research showing that separated and cohabiting women face an elevated risk of IPV compared to married women (Brownridge 2008; Rezey 2017). However, these two groups exhibited distinct trends over time, with separated mothers experiencing an increase in IPV levels and cohabiting mothers experiencing a substantial decline.

The study also examines the sociodemographic correlates of unmarried motherhood. Consistent with prior research, I found that cohabiting and separated women differed systematically from married women. Compared to married mothers, unmarried mothers were less educated, more likely to have given birth as a teenager, and less likely to have attended antenatal care services. One might have expected married and cohabiting mothers to have similar characteristics, given that marriage is 'less normative' in Colombia than in many other countries. However, it is important to consider the history of the institutionalization of marriage in the region and how inequalities shaped family formation patterns. In addition, in Colombia cohabiting unions tend to be based on low commitment levels and a clear power imbalance between men and women. Even if cohabiting mothers in Colombia face less social stigma than in countries where marriage is the norm, their health behavior and IPV risk levels still differ from those of married mothers.

The logistic regression analysis showed that before accounting for IPV during pregnancy and sociodemographic characteristics, children born to unmarried mothers were at higher risk of having adverse health outcomes early in life. When IPV during pregnancy was accounted for the parameter for separated mothers decreased slightly from the previous model, yet differences in low birth weight between cohabiting and married mothers persisted. After the mothers' and the children's characteristics were included in

the model, there were no longer differences between unmarried and married mothers in the risk of having a low-birth-weight infant. Key factors, such as the number of antenatal care visits, played a critical role in explaining these differences. These findings highlight the importance of considering maternal and child characteristics and healthcare utilization during pregnancy when examining variations in infant health by maternal partnership status.

Contrary to expectations, I did not find a significant association between IPV during pregnancy and LBW. As noted in prior research, this may reflect the complexity of analyzing LBW as an infant health outcome (Travers, Devereux, and Yang 2021), particularly given the low prevalence observed in the current data. Additional analysis with the same data showed that IPV during pregnancy was highly associated with not having a live birth (see Table A-5). This pattern suggests that the effects of IPV during pregnancy may manifest even before the infant is born.

The analyses presented here have some limitations. Because of the nature of crosssectional data, partnership status is measured at the time of the interview when the child was up to 12 months old. Ideally, it would have been measured during pregnancy. The CDHS data include partnership histories, which would enable us to construct a more precise measure of partnership status during pregnancy. However, as the sample size for cases with complete partnership histories is small, I could not draw on that data. Another related limitation is that the CDHS data include the category "separated mothers," but they do not provide information on whether these mothers were married or in a cohabiting union before dissolution, or if they had cohabited before they married. Such information could be used to improve our understanding of the specific characteristics of mothers in cohabiting unions and mothers who are separated. Due to the small sample sizes, examining whether the association between partnership status and child health changed over time was not possible. Additionally, although the models controlled for key confounders, other factors such as the mother's ethnicity and wealth could not be accounted for. Lastly, the study relied on one indicator of IPV. Measuring other forms of IPV apart from physical violence, such as emotional or sexual violence, could enrich the analysis. Emotional abuse, which includes behaviors that control, threaten, or intimidate women, and sexual violence, which involves forced sexual acts, are critical components of IPV that can have profound impacts on maternal stress levels, mental health, and antenatal care utilization. Including these additional forms of IPV in future analysis could provide a more comprehensive understanding of how different types of violence influence the relationship between partnership status and child health. Indicators of emotional and sexual violence are present in the CDHS data, but they were not necessarily applied during pregnancy, as the measurement used in this study was.

Despite these limitations, our findings highlight the importance of taking into account mother and child characteristics along with healthcare utilization during pregnancy when examining differences in child health across diverse family forms. The study also reveals that cohabiting mothers reported less violence in more recent years than in earlier years, which may indicate that the meaning of cohabitation has changed or that separation after experiencing IPV has become more socially accepted over time. The latter explanation is supported by the decrease in reports of IPV among cohabiting women, mirroring the increase in reports of IPV among separated women. Given that women are more likely to experience violence from an intimate partner than from other perpetrators (Garcia-Moreno et al. 2006), this research provides important evidence of which women are at higher risk of experiencing IPV based on their partner status, and how these patterns are evolving.

7. Acknowledgements

This research was funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG) (grant number 390285477/ GRK 2458). I am grateful for the generous comments and feedback from Michaela Kreyenfeld, Signe Svallfors, and the DYNAMICS Research Training Group participants at the Humboldt Universität and Hertie School. I am also grateful to the editor and three referees for their valuable feedback.

References

- Almond, D. and Currie, J. (2011). Killing me softly: The fetal origins hypothesis. *Journal* of Economic Perspectives: 25(3): 153–172. doi:10.1257/jep.25.3.153.
- Amato, P.R. (2014). The consequences of divorce for adults and children: An update. *Drustvena Istrazivanja* 23(1): 5–24. doi:10.5559/di.23.1.01.
- Amato, P.R. and Patterson, S.E. (2017). Single-parent households and mortality among children and youth. *Social Science Research* 63: 253–262. doi:10.1016/j. ssresearch.2016.09.017.
- Arriagada, I. (2006). Changes and inequality in Latin American families. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies* 37(4): 511–537. doi:10.3138/jcfs.37.4.511.
- Bailey, B.A. and Daugherty, R.A. (2007). Intimate partner violence during pregnancy: Incidence and associated health behaviors in a rural population. *Maternal and Child Health Journal* 11(5): 495–503. doi:10.1007/s10995-007-0191-6.
- Bird, S.T., Chandra, A., Bennett, T., and Harvey, S.M. (2000). Beyond marital status: Relationship type and duration and the risk of low birth weight. *Family Planning Perspectives* 32(6): doi:10.2307/2648196.
- Boardman, J.D., Powers, D.A., Padilla, Y.C., and Hummer, R.A. (2002). Low birth weight, social factors, and developmental outcomes among children in the United States. *Demography* 39(2): 353–368. doi:10.1353/dem.2002.0015.
- Boeke, C.E., Marín, C., Oliveros, H., Mora-Plazas, M., Agudelo-Cañas, S., and Villamor, E. (2012). Validity of maternal birthweight recall among Colombian children. *Maternal and Child Health Journal* 16(4): 753–759. doi:10.1007/s10995-011-0803-z.
- Bongaarts, J. and Casterline, J. (2022). Extramarital fertility in low- and middle-income countries. *Demographic Research* 47(3): 59–72. doi:10.4054/DemRes.2022.47.3.
- Brown, S. (2010). Marriage and child well-being: Research and policy perspectives. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 72(5): 1059–1077. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737. 2010.00750.x.
- Brown, S. and Bulanda, J.R. (2008). Relationship violence in young adulthood: A comparison of daters, cohabitors, and marrieds. *Social Science Research* 37(1): 73–87. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2007.06.002.

- Brown, S., Manning, W.D., and Stykes, J.B. (2015). Family structure and child wellbeing: Integrating family complexity. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 77(1): 177–190. doi:10.1111/jomf.12145.
- Brownridge, D.A. (2008). The elevated risk for violence against cohabiting women: A comparison of three nationally representative surveys of Canada. *Violence Against Women* 14(7): 809–832. doi:10.1177/1077801208320368.
- Burstrom, B., Whitehead, M., Clayton, S., Fritzell, S., Vannoni, F., and Costa, G. (2010). Health inequalities between lone and couple mothers and policy under different welfare regimes – The example of Italy, Sweden and Britain. *Social Science and Medicine* 70(6): 912–920. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.11.014.
- Bzostek, S.H. and Beck, A.N. (2011). Familial instability and young children's physical health. *Social Science and Medicine* 73(2): 282–292. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed. 2011.04.014.
- Campbell, J.C. (2002). Health consequences of intimate partner violence. *The Lancet* 359(9314): 1331–1336. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08336-8.
- Case, A. and Paxson, C. (2010). Causes and consequences of early-life health. *Demography* 47(Suppl 1): S65–S85. doi:10.1353/dem.2010.0007.
- Castro, R., Casique, I., and Brindis, C.D. (2008). Empowerment and physical violence throughout women's reproductive life in Mexico. *Violence Against Women* 14(6): 655–677. doi:10.1177/1077801208319102.
- Castro-Martín, T. (2002). Consensual unions in Latin America: Persistence of a dual nuptiality system. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies* 33(1): 35–55. doi:10.3138/jcfs.33.1.35.
- Castro-Martín, T. (2010). Single motherhood and low birthweight in Spain: Narrowing social inequalities in health? *Demographic Research* 22(27): 863–890. doi:10.4054/DemRes.2010.22.27.
- Castro-Martín, T., Cortina, C., Martín-García, T., and Pardo, I. (2011). Maternidad sin matrimonio en América Latina: Análisis comparativo a partir de datos censales. *Notas de Población* 37(93): 37–76.
- Coleman, D. (2004). Why we don't have to believe without doubting in the "Second Demographic Transition" Some agnostic comments. *Vienna Yearbook of Population Research* 2(2004): 11–24. doi:10.1553/populationyearbook2004s11.

- Covre-Sussai, M., Meuleman, B., Botterman, S., and Matthijs, K. (2015). Traditional and modern cohabitation in Latin America: A comparative typology. *Demographic Research* 32(32): 873–914. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2375072.
- Da Thi Tran, T., Murray, L., and Van Vo, T. (2022). Intimate partner violence during pregnancy and maternal and child health outcomes: A scoping review of the literature from low-and-middle income countries from 2016–2021. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth 22(315): 1–14. doi:10.1186/s12884-022-04604-3.
- Deere, C.D. and León, M. (2022). Consensual unions, property rights, and patrimonial violence against women in Latin America. *Social Politics: International Studies* in Gender, State and Society 29(2): 608–633. doi:10.1093/sp/jxab001.
- De Vos, S. (2000). Nuptiality in Latin America: The view of a sociologist and family demographer. In: Browning, S.L. and Miller, R.R. (eds.). *Till death do us part: A multicultural anthology on marriage*. Stanford: JAI Press: 219–243.
- DeMaris, A. (2001). The influence of intimate violence on transitions out of cohabitation. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 63(1): 235–246. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737. 2001.00235.x.
- DeRose, L.F., Salazar-Arango, A., Corcuera García, P., Gas-Aixendri, M., and Rivera, R. (2017). Maternal union instability and childhood mortality risk in the Global South, 2010–14. *Population Studies* 71(2): 211–228. doi:10.1080/003247 28.2017.1316866.
- Devries, K.M., Kishor, S., Johnson, H., Stöckl, H., Bacchus, L.J., Garcia-Moreno, C., and Watts, C. (2010). Intimate partner violence during pregnancy: Analysis of prevalence data from 19 countries. *Reproductive Health Matters* 18(36): 158–170. doi:10.1016/S0968-8080(10)36533-5.
- DHS Program (2023). Colombian Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) [electronic resource]. Rockville: Demographic and Health Surveys Program. http://www.dhs program.com/Data/.
- Dutton, M.A., Green, B.L., Kaltman, S.I., Roesch, D.M., Zeffiro, T.A., and Krause, E.D. (2006). Intimate partner violence, PTSD, and adverse health outcomes. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 21(7): 955–968. doi:10.1177/0886260506289178.
- Esteve, A., Castro-Martín, T., and Castro Torres, A.F. (2022). Families in Latin America: Trends, singularities, and contextual factors. *Annual Review of Sociology* 48(1): 485–505. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-030420-015156.

- Esteve, A., García-Román, J., and Lesthaeghe, R. (2012). The family context of cohabitation and single motherhood in Latin America. *Population and Development Review* 38(4): 707–727. doi:10.1111/j.1728-4457.2012.00533.x.
- Fernández-González, L., O'Leary, K.D., and Muñoz-Rivas, M.J. (2013). We are not joking: Need for controls in reports of dating violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 28(3): 602–620. doi:10.1177/0886260512455518.
- Fleury, R.E., Sullivan, C. M., and Bybee, D. (2000). When ending the relationship does not end the violence: Women's experiences of violence by former partners. *Violence against Women* 6(12): 1363–1383. doi:10.1177/10778010022183695.
- Foster, E.M. and Kalil, A. (2007). Living arrangements and children's development in low-income white, black, and latino families. *Child Development* 78(6): 1657– 1674. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01091.x.
- Fournier, M., De Los Ríos, R., Orpinas, P., and Piquet-Carneiro, L. (1999). Estudio multicéntrico sobre actitudes y normas culturales frente a la violencia (proyecto ACTIVA): Metodología. *Revista Panamericana de Salud Pública* 5(4–5): 222– 231. doi:10.1590/S1020-49891999000400006.
- Friedemann-Sanchez, G. and Lovatón, R. (2012). Intimate partner violence in Colombia: Who is at risk? *Social Forces* 91(2): 663–688. doi:10.1093/sf/sos131.
- Garcia-Moreno, C., Jansen, H.A., Ellsberg, M., Heise, L., and Watts, C.H. (2006). Prevalence of intimate partner violence: Findings from the WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence. *The Lancet* 368(9543): 1260– 1269. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69523-8.
- Gutiérrez de Pineda, V. (1968). Familia y cultura en Colombia. Tipologías, funciones y dinámica de la familia. Manifestaciones múltiples a través del mosaico cultural y sus estructuras sociales. Medellín: Universidad de Antioquia.
- Härkönen, J., Bernardi, F., and Boertien, D. (2017). Family dynamics and child outcomes: An overview of research and open questions. *European Journal of Population* 33(2): 163–184. doi:10.1007/s10680-017-9424-6.
- Hiekel, N., Liefbroer, A.C., and Poortman, A.R. (2014). Understanding diversity in the meaning of cohabitation across Europe. *European Journal of Population* 30(4): 391–410. doi:10.1007/s10680-014-9321-1.
- Hindin, M.J., Kishor, S., and Ansara, D.L. (2008). Intimate partner violence among couples in 10 DHS countries: Predictors and health outcomes. Calverton: Macro International (DHS Analytical Studies 18).

- Hogendoorn, B. and Härkönen, J. (2023). Single motherhood and multigenerational coresidence in Europe. *Population and Development Review* 49(1): 105–133. doi:10.1111/padr.12540.
- Hohmann-Marriott, B.E. (2009). Father involvement ideals and the union transitions of unmarried parents. *Journal of Family Issues* 30(7): 898–920. doi:10.1177/019 2513X08327885.
- Janssen, P.A., Holt, V.L., Sugg, N.K., Emanuel, I., Critchlow, C.M., and Henderson, A.D. (2003). Intimate partner violence and adverse pregnancy outcomes: A population-based study. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 188(5): 1341–1347. doi:10.1067/mob.2003.274.
- Jones, J.H. and Ferguson, B. (2006). The marriage squeeze in Colombia, 1973–2005: The role of excess male death. *Biodemography and Social Biology* 53(3–4): 140–151. doi:10.1007/s12110-009-9064-6.
- Kalmijn, M. (2015). Family disruption and intergenerational reproduction: Comparing the influences of married parents, divorced parents, and stepparents. *Demography* 52(3): 811–833. doi:10.1007/s13524-015-0388-z.
- Kenney, C.T. and McLanahan, S.S. (2006). Why are cohabiting relationships more violent than marriages? *Demography* 43(1): 127–140. doi:10.1353/dem.2006. 0007.
- Kiernan, K. and Pickett, K.E. (2006). Marital status disparities in maternal smoking during pregnancy, breastfeeding and maternal depression. *Social Science and Medicine* 63(2): 335–346. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.01.006.
- Kishor, S. and Kiersten, J. (2004). Profiling domestic violence a multi-country study. Calverton: ORC Macro.
- Laplante, B., Castro-Martín, T., Cortina, C., and Fostik, A.L. (2016). The contributions of childbearing within marriage and within consensual union to fertility in Latin America, 1980–2010. *Demographic Research* 34(29): 827–844. doi:10.4054/ DemRes.2016.34.29.
- Lavrin, A. (ed.) (1989). *Sexuality and marriage in colonial Latin America*. Lincoln and London: University of Nebraska Press.
- Lesthaeghe, R. (2010). The unfolding story of the second demographic transition. *Population and Development Review* 36(2): 211–251. doi:10.1111/j.1728-4457. 2010.00328.x.

- Liefbroer, A.C. and Dourleijn, E. (2006). Unmarried cohabitation and union stability: Testing the role of diffusion using data from 16 European countries. *Demography* 43(2): 203–221. doi:10.1353/dem.2006.0018.
- Magdol, L., Moffitt, T.E., Caspi, A., and Silva, P.A. (1998). Hitting without a license: Testing explanations for differences in partner abuse between young adult daters and cohabitors. *Journal of Marriage and the Family* 60(1): 41–55. doi:10.2307/ 353440.
- Manning, W.D. and Cohen, J.A. (2012). Premarital cohabitation and marital dissolution: An examination of recent marriages. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 74(2): 377– 387. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2012.00960.x.
- Manning, W.D. and Lamb, K.A. (2003). Adolescent well-being in cohabiting, married, and single-parent families. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 65(4): 876–893. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2003.00876.x.
- Manning, W.D., Longmore, M.A., and Giordano, P.C. (2018). Cohabitation and intimate partner violence during emerging adulthood: High constraints and low commitment. *Journal of Family Issues* 39(4): 1030–1055. doi:10.1177/0192513 X16686132.
- McLanahan, S. (2004). Diverging destinies: How children are faring under the second demographic transition. *Demography* 41(4): 607–627. doi:10.1353/dem.2004. 0033.
- McQuestion, M.J. (2003). Endogenous social effects on intimate partner violence in Colombia. Social Science Research 32(2): 335–345. doi:10.1016/S0049-089X(02)00062-5.
- Menjívar, C. (2011). *Enduring violence: Ladina women's lives in Guatemala*. Berkeley: University of California Press. doi:10.1525/9780520948419.
- Milanich, N. (2002). Historical perspectives on illegitimacy and illegitimates in Latin America. In: Hecht, T. (ed.). *Minor omissions: Children in Latin American history* and society. Madison: University of Wisconsin Press: 72–101.
- Murphy, C.C., Schei, B., and Myhr, T.L. (2001). Abuse: A risk factor for low birth weight? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 164(11): 1567–1572.

- Newberger, E.H., Barkan, S.E., Lieberman, E.S., McCormick, M.C., Yllo, K., Gary, L.T., and Schechter, S. (1992). Abuse of pregnant women and adverse birth outcome: Current knowledge and implications for practice. *JAMA* 267(17): 2370–2372. doi:10.1001/jama.1992.03480170096037.
- Nock, S.L. (1995). A comparison of marriages and cohabiting relationships. *Journal of Family Issues* 16(1): 53–76. doi:10.1177/019251395016001004.
- Nunes, M.A.A., Camey, S., Ferri, C.P., Manzolli, P., Manenti, C.N., and Schmidt, M.I. (2010). Violence during pregnancy and newborn outcomes: A cohort study in a disadvantaged population in Brazil. *The European Journal of Public Health* 21(1): 92–97. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckp241.
- Panico, L., Bartley, M., Kelly, Y.J., McMunn, A., and Sacker, A. (2019). Family structure trajectories and early child health in the UK: Pathways to health. *Social Science* and Medicine 232: 220–229. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.05.006.
- Parrado, E.A. and Tienda, M. (1997). Women's roles and family formation in Venezuela: New forms of consensual unions? *Biodemography and Social Biology* 44(1–2): 1–24. doi:10.1080/19485565.1997.9988931.
- Perelli-Harris, B., Sigle-Rushton, W., Kreyenfeld, M., Lappegård, T., Keizer, R., and Berghammer, C. (2010). The educational gradient of childbearing within cohabitation in Europe. *Population and Development Review* 36(4): 775–801. doi:10.1111/j.1728-4457.2010.00357.x.
- Pierce, H. and Heaton, T. B. (2020). Cohabitation or marriage? How relationship status and community context influence the well-being of children in developing nations. *Population Research and Policy Review* 39(4): 719–737. doi:10.1007/s1 1113-019-09549-8.
- Quilodrán, J. (2003). La familia, referentes en transición. *Papeles de Población* 9(37): 51–87.
- Reynolds, S.A., Fernald, L.C.H., Deardorff, J., and Behrman, J.R. (2018). Family structure and child development in Chile: A longitudinal analysis of household transitions involving fathers and grandparents. *Demographic Research* 38(58): 1777–1814. doi:10.4054/DemRes.2018.38.58.
- Rezey, M.L. (2017). Separated women's risk for intimate partner violence: A multiyear analysis using the national crime victimization survey. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 35(5–6): 1055–1080. doi:10.1177/0886260517692334.

- Romans, S., Forte, T., Cohen, M.M., Du Mont, J., and Hyman, I. (2007). Who is most at risk for intimate partner violence? A Canadian population-based study. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 22(12): 1495–1514. doi:10.1177/0886260507306566.
- Rurangirwa, A.A., Mogren, I., Nyirazinyoye, L., Ntaganira, J., and Krantz, G. (2017). Determinants of poor utilization of antenatal care services among recently delivered women in Rwanda: A population based study. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth* 17(142). doi:10.1186/s12884-017-1328-2.
- Schmeer, K.K. (2011). The child health disadvantage of parental cohabitation. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 73(1): 181–193. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2010.00797.x.
- Shah, P.S. and Shah, J. (2010). Maternal exposure to domestic violence and pregnancy and birth outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analyses. *Journal of Women's Health* 19(11): 2017–2031. doi:10.1089/jwh.2010.2051.
- Shah, P.S., Zao, J., and Ali, S. (2011). Maternal marital status and birth outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analyses. *Maternal and Child Health Journal* 15(7): 1097–1109. doi:10.1007/s10995-010-0654-z.
- Siddique, J.A. (2016). Age, marital status, and risk of sexual victimization: Similarities and differences across victim-offender relationships. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 31(15): 2556–2575. doi:10.1177/0886260515579507.
- Sigalla, G.N., Mushi, D., Meyrowitsch, D.W., Manongi, R., Rogathi, J.J., Gammeltoft, T., and Rasch, V. (2017). Intimate partner violence during pregnancy and its association with preterm birth and low birth weight in Tanzania: A prospective cohort study. *Plos One* 12(2): e0172540. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0172540.
- Smith-Greenaway, E. and Clark, S. (2017). Variation in the link between parental divorce and children's health disadvantage in low and high divorce settings. *SSM Population Health* 3: 473–486. doi:10.1016/j.ssmph.2017.04.004.
- Socolow, S.M. (2000). *The women in colonial Latin America*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/CBO9780511840074.
- Song, H. (2021). The unequal consequences of family structures for infant health. *Social Science Research* 100(6186): 102604. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2021.102604.
- Torche, F. (2011). The effect of maternal stress on birth outcomes: Exploiting a natural experiment. *Demography* 48(4): 1473–1491. doi:10.1007/s13524-011-0054-z.
- Torche, F. and Abufhele, A. (2021). The normativity of marriage and the marriage premium for children's outcomes. *American Journal of Sociology* 126(4): 931–968. doi:10.1086/713382.

- Torche, F. and Conley, D. (2016). A pound of flesh: The use of birthweight as a measure of human capital endowment in economics research. In: Komlos, J. and Kelly, I. (eds.). *The Oxford handbook of economics and human biology*. Oxford: Oxford University Press: 631–649. doi:10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199389292.013.26.
- Travers, C.S., Devereux, P.G., and Yang, W. (2021). Prevalence and screening of intimate partner violence and association with neonatal low birth weight. *Journal of Family Violence* 36(4): 399–406. doi:10.1007/s10896-020-00203-y.
- Valladares, E. (2002). Physical partner abuse during pregnancy: A risk factor for low birth weight in Nicaragua. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 100(4): 700–705. doi:10.1016/S0029-7844(02)02093-8.
- WHO (2001). Putting women first: Ethical and safety recommendations for research on domestic violence against women. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- WHO (2005). WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence against women: Initial results on prevalence, health outcomes and women's responses. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- WHO (2014). *Global nutrition targets 2025 low birth weight policy brief*. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- WHO (2016). WHO Recommendations on antenatal care for a positive pregnancy experience. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO.
- Yount, K.M., DiGirolamo, A.M., and Ramakrishnan, U. (2011). Impacts of domestic violence on child growth and nutrition: A conceptual review of the pathways of influence. *Social Science and Medicine* 72(9): 1534–1554. doi:10.1016/j.soc scimed.2011.02.042.
- Zaidi, B. and Morgan, S.P. (2017). The second demographic transition theory: A review and appraisal. *Annual Review of Sociology* 43(1): 473–492. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-060116-053442.

Molina: Unmarried motherhood and infant health: The role of intimate partner violence in Colombia

Appendix



Figure A-1: Share of women aged 13–49 by partnership status and year

Source: CDHS 1990, 1995, 2000, 2005, 2010. 2015; own weighted estimates. Note: N=105,108. Vertical lines represent 95% confidence intervals.

	IPV = Ev shook, c thrown b the last	IPV = Ever been pushed, shook, or had something thrown by husband/partner in the last 12 months		iver been slapped band or partner in t 12 months	IPV = Experienced any physical violence in the last 12 months		
	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	
Partnership status							
Married	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
Cohabiting	1.15	0.94–1.42	1.13	0.93-1.37	1.14	0.94–1.38	
Separated	1.21	0.93-1.60	1.14	0.88-1.48	1.16	0.89–1.50	
Year							
2000	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
2005	1.24	0.93-1.65	1.19	0.90-1.60	1.18	0.89-1.58	
2010	1.31	0.98-1.74	1.30	0.98-1.72	1.30	0.98-1.73	
2015	1.46	1.08-1.96	1.40	1.04-1.88	1.40	1.04-1.87	
IPV	1.06	0.88-1.28	1.02	0.86-1.22	1.04	0.87-1.24	
Sex of the child							
Male	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
Female	1.20	1.04-1.40	1.18	1.02-1.36	1.20	1.04-1.38	
Birth order							
First	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
Second	0.73	0.60-0.89	0.72	0.60-0.87	0.72	0.60-0.87	
Third or higher	0.67	0.53-0.84	0.63	0.51-0.79	0.62	0.50-0.77	
Age at birth							
13–19	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
20–34	0.92	0.75–1.14	0.92	0.75-1.14	0.94	0.76-1.15	
35–49	1.22	0.93-1.59	1.19	0.92-1.55	1.24	0.95-1.60	
Place of residence							
Rural	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
Urban	1.06	0.89-1.26	1.08	0.91-1.28	1.09	0.92-1.29	
Educational level							
Primary	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
Secondary	1.09	0.90-1.33	1.10	0.91-1.33	1.09	0.90-1.31	
Higher	1.14	0.87-1.48	1.16	0.90-1.49	1.17	0.91-1.50	
Number of antenatal care visits							
1–3 visits	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
4-7 visits	0.66	0.54-0.81	0.65	0.53-0.79	0.65	0.54-0.80	
8+ visits	0.42	0.33-0.53	0.40	0.32-0.51	0.40	0.31-0.50	
Ν		11,234		12,194		12,412	
Pseudo R ²		0.016		0.017		0.018	

Table A-1: Results from logit models with infant birth weight as the outcome variable

Note: 1 = low birth weight; 0 = regular birth weight. Odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence intervals.

	IPV during pregnancy	No IPV during pregnancy
Low birth weight	8.91	7.48
Low birth weight	[6.69–11.78]	[6.83–8.19]
Partnership status		
Married	11.36	25.14
	[8.89–14.41]	[23.91–26.42]
Cohabiting	62.89	62.63
-	[58.05-67.48]	[61.29-63.94]
Separated	25.75	12.23
Sax of the child	[21.41-30.62]	[11.45–13.06]
	46.06	52.32
Male	[41.55–50.65]	[50.98–53.66]
Female	53.94	47.68
Estrestionel level	[49.35–58.45]	[46.34–49.02]
Educational level	20.27	22.48
Primary or lower	20.27	22.18
	[24.67-32.18]	[21.18-23.23]
Secondary	58.08	54.41
	[53.30-02.00]	[53.05-55.76]
Higher	13.64	23.41
Place of residence	[9.85–18.59]	[22.10–24.77]
ridee of residence	75.84	75 45
Urban	[72 17_79 17]	[74 39_76 47]
	24.16	24 55
Rural	[20 83-27 83]	[23,53-25,61]
Age at birth	[20:00 2::00]	[20:00 20:01]
	20.01	15.36
<20 years	[16.78-23.67]	[14.50–16.27]
	53.13	54.76
20–34	[48.52–57.68]	[53.41–56.11]
0.4	26.86	29.88
>34 years	[23.20-30.88]	[28.56–31.23]
Birth order		
First	22.48	38.58
Filst	[18.35–27.24]	[37.28–39.90]
Second	32.41	34.08
Second	[28.18–36.94]	[32.81–35.38]
Third or higher	45.11	27.34
Third of higher	[40.63-49.67]	[26.20–28.50]
Number of antenatal care visits		
1–3 visits	17.94	9.89
	[14.80–21.58]	[9.18–10.65]
4–7 visits	49.58	52.68
	[44.95–54.22]	[51.34–54.02]
8+ visits	32.48	37.43
	[27.98–37.33]	[36.10–38.77]
Sample size	960	11,231

Table A-2:Sample statistics by report of experiencing IPV during pregnancy
(%) and 95% confidence intervals; mothers with children aged 0–1

Source: CDHS 2000, 2005, 2010. 2015; own weighted estimates.

	2000	2005	2010	2015	All years
Low birth weight	5.08 [3.94–6.54]	7.76 [6.61–9.10]	8.26 [7.18–9.48]	7.50 [6.26–8.93]	7.59 [6.96–8.28]
Partnership status					
Married	32.77	26.41	20.97	22.14	24.08
Married	[29.99–35.67]	[24.46-28.46]	[19.40–22.63]	[19.17–25.42]	[22.91–25.28]
Cohohiting	55.10	60.02	64.56	65.99	62.65
Conabiling	[52.08-58.09]	[57.79–62.21]	[62.66-66.42]	[62.73–69.11]	[61.36–63.91]
Concepted	12.13	13.57	14.46	11.87	13.28
Separated	[10.29–14.24]	[12.11–15.16]	[13.13–15.90]	[10.16–13.83]	[12.46–14.14]
Educational level					
	36.32	30.45	20.48	11.51	22.66
Plinary of lower	[33.48–39.25]	[28.40-32.58]	[18.97–22.07]	[10.16–13.03]	[21.68–23.66]
On an address	53.46	54.42	57.40	51.98	54.69
Secondary	[50.44–56.46]	[52.17–56.66]	[55.46–59.33]	[48.83–55.12]	[53.39–55.99]
1 Balance	10.22	15.13	22.12	36.50	22.65
Higher	[8.43–12.34]	[13.60–16.79]	[20.51–23.82]	[33.17–39.96]	[21.40-23.96]
Place of residence					
	74.01	74.05	76.48	76.34	75.48
Urban	[71.30–76.56]	[72.18–75.84]	[74.83–78.06]	[74.08–78.45]	[74.46–76.46]
	25.99	25.95	23.52	23.66	24.52
Rurai	[23.44–28.70]	[24.16–27.82]	[21.94–25.17]	[21.55–25.92]	[23.54–25.54]
Age at birth					
00	17.05	17.08	16.05	13.28	15.72
<20 years	[14.92–19.43]	[15.35–18.95]	[14.69–17.51]	[11.80–14.91]	[14.88–16.61]
00.04	51.81	54.05	53.68	57.58	54.63
20–34	[48.78–54.82]	[51.79–56.30]	[51.72–55.63]	[54.35-60.74]	[53.34–55.92]
0.4	31.14	28.87	30.27	29.14	29.64
>34 years	[28.34–34.08]	[26.89–30.94]	[28.46–32.13]	[25.89–32.62]	[28.39–30.93]
Birth order					
First	36.43	35.02	37.62	39.91	37.33
Filst	[33.58–39.38]	[32.95–37.15]	[35.74–39.54]	[36.84–43.05]	[36.09–38.60]
Organit	30.09	32.16	34.42	36.84	33.95
Second	[27.41–32.91]	[30.02–34.38]	[32.57–36.31]	[33.90–39.88]	[32.73–35.20]
Third on block on	33.49	32.81	27.97	23.25	28.71
i hird or higher	[30.68–36.41]	[30.75–34.95]	[26.26–29.73]	[20.91–25.78]	[27.60–29.85]
Number of antenatal care visits					
0–3 visits	15.12 [13.12–17.37]	12.55 [11.21–14.04]	9.39 [8.34–10.56]	7.92 [6.50–9.62]	10.51 [9.81–11.27]
4–7 visits	51.84	56.98	52.59	47.38	52.44
	[48.81–54.85] 33.04	[54.75–59.18] 30.47	[50.63–54.54] 38.02	[44.33–50.46] 44 70	[51.15–53.73] 37.05
8+ visits	[30.23–35.98]	[28.47–32.54]	[36.13–39.95]	[41.56–47.88]	[35.77–38.34]
Sample size	1,186	3,649	4,267	3,089	12,191

Table A-3: Sample statistics by year (%) and 95% confidence intervals; mothers with children aged 0–1

Source: CDHS 2000, 2005, 2010, 2015; own weighted estimates.

	Model 1		I	Model 2		Model 3		Model 4		Model 5	
	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	
Partnership status											
Married	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
Cohabiting	2.26	1.82-2.81	2.02	1.62-2.52	2.39	1.92-2.98	2.13	1.71–2.66	2.13	1.70-2.67	
Separated	4.62	3.62–5.89	4.18	3.27–5.35	4.87	3.81–6.22	4.40	3.44-5.63	4.35	3.38-5.60	
Educational level											
Primary or lower			Ref.				Ref.		Ref.		
Secondary			0.72	0.62-0.84			0.75	0.65-0.87	0.95	0.81–1.12	
Higher			0.37	0.29–0.47			0.41	0.32-0.52	0.71	0.54-0.92	
Year											
2000					Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		
2005					0.73	0.59–0.91	0.77	0.62-0.96	0.72	0.58-0.90	
2010					0.54	0.43-0.67	0.60	0.48-0.74	0.56	0.45-0.70	
2015					0.52	0.41-0.66	0.63	0.50-0.80	0.60	0.47-0.76	
Place of residence											
Rural									Ref.		
Urban									1.19	1.02-1.40	
Age at birth											
13–19									Ref.		
20–34									0.48	0.39–0.59	
35–49									0.39	0.30-0.50	
Birth order											
First									Ref.		
Second									2.33	1.89–2.86	
Third or higher									4.91	3.94–6.14	
N		12,191		12,191		12,191		12,191		12,191	
Pseudo R ²		0.025		0.037		0.032		0.040		0.074	

Table A-4:	Results from	logit models	with IPV	as the de	pendent vari	able

Note: 1 = experienced IPV during pregnancy; 0 = did not experience IPV during pregnancy. Odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence intervals.

Figure A-2: Predicted probabilities of IPV during pregnancy as the dependent variable. Results from logit model with interaction between mother's partnership status and calendar year



Note: 1 = experienced IPV during pregnancy; 0 = did not experience IPV during pregnancy. Model controls for educational level, place of residence, age at birth, and birth order. Vertical bars represent 95% CI.

		Model 1 Model 2		Model 2		Model 3
	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI
Partnership status						
Married	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.	
Cohabiting	1.98	1.75–2.23	1.93	1.71–2.18	1.66	1.46-1.88
Separated	1.68	1.46-1.95	1.61	1.39–1.86	1.37	1.18–1.59
Year						
2000	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.	
2005	0.90	0.76-1.06	0.91	0.77-1.07	0.91	0.77-1.08
2010	0.76	0.64–0.89	0.77	0.65-0.90	0.78	0.66–0.91
2015	0.63	0.53-0.74	0.64	0.54-0.76	0.63	0.53-0.75
IPV during pregnancy			1.58	1.37–1.81	1.72	1.49–1.98
Sex of the child						
Male					Ref.	
Female					0.99	0.90-1.08
Birth order						
First					Ref.	
Second					0.81	0.72-0.91
Third or higher					0.67	0.58-0.77
Age at birth						
13–19					Ref.	
20–34					0.77	0.68–0.88
35–49					0.53	0.45-0.63
Place of residence						
Rural					Ref.	
Urban					1.16	1.04-1.30
Educational level						
Primary					Ref.	
Secondary					1.14	1.02-1.27
Higher					1.17	1.01-1.37
Number of antenatal care visits						
0–3 visits					Ref.	
4–7 visits					0.89	0.75–1.05
8+ visits					0.75	0.64-0.88
N		63,280		63,280		63,280
Pseudo R ²		0.001		0.012		0.027

Table A-5: Results from logit models with pregnancy outcome as the dependent variable

Note: 1 = miscarriage, abortion, or stillbirth; 0=live birth. Odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence intervals.